STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

**RECEIVED**  
FEB 12 2025  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal from the Circuit Court  
The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr.

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-001910

---

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA .....APPELLANT

v.

Joey Reid, #1392728, .....RESPONDENT

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

**Matthew C. Buchanan**  
General Counsel

South Carolina Department of Probation,  
Parole and Pardon Services  
P.O. Box 207  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202  
(803) 734-9220

**ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT**

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Court of Appeals err when it determined a circuit court judge's order vacating a sentence imposed by a different judge and remanding the matter for a new sentence is not a final order and therefore not reviewable?
2. Can a circuit court judge overseeing a probation violation vacate a sentencing order issued by another circuit judge when there was no appeal taken from the original sentence or post-conviction action filed?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 27, 2014, Respondent pleaded guilty to one count of assault and battery in the first degree (2012-GS-24-1323) and one count of attempted murder (2012-GS-24-1325). (R.p.52-p.53). At the plea, he was represented by Carson Henderson, Esquire. Solicitor David Stumbo represented the State, and the Honorable Doyet Early, III, presided. Per the sentencing sheets and recollection of the solicitor, the plea was negotiated and agreed to by all parties. (R.p. 11, l. 9-13; 52-53). The negotiated plea was for Respondent to serve ten years in the Department of Corrections on the assault charge, plus a consecutive twenty-year sentence for attempted murder, suspended upon the service of five years' probation. This was accepted by the court, which followed the negotiation and imposed the agreed upon sentence. No appeal or post-conviction action was submitted by either party involved with the plea.

Respondent served his active sentence at the Department of Corrections and was released to probation on or about June 29, 2018 and began his term of probation with the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services (SCDPPPS). He was subsequently arrested for attempted murder on July 11, 2019. Agents for SCDPPPS issued a warrant for violation of probation on July 12, 2019, citing the allegations underlying the new arrest along with failing to pay monetary obligations and failing to follow the advice and instructions of the agent. A hearing on the probation violation was scheduled on January 30, 2020, before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker but the matter was continued. Ultimately, the probation violation hearing was not conducted until after Respondent was acquitted after trial by a jury of the attempted murder charge on April 21, 2021.

The violation of probation hearing was finally heard on October 28, 2021 before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. At an earlier hearing in which the matter was continued,

Respondent's counsel, Tristan Shaffer, raised an objection to the probation violation based on the underlying conviction and sentence – that a conviction for attempted murder could not be suspended to probation, regardless of the fact that it was a negotiated plea. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (2010) (“A sentence imposed pursuant to this section may not be suspended nor may probation be granted.”).

During the October hearing, the court considered Respondent's argument and heard from Eighth Circuit Solicitor David Stumbo and Assistant General Counsel for SCDPPPS Octavia Wright. (R.p. 1-p. 24). The court took the matter under advisement. On November 9, 2021, an unlocked placeholder order dismissing probation warrant W-24-20-0153 was issued, though the court stated it would supplement the order at a later time. (R.p.37). SCDPPPS responded in an email to all parties of its intention to file an appeal of the order when it is issued in its final form. (R.p.38-p.51). On November 29, 2021, the court issued a subsequent order dismissing probation violation warrants W-24-20-0116 and -153, and instructing Respondent to be released from the Greenwood County Jail. (R.p.36). In response to the dismissal Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal on December 9, 2021, and served Respondent.

In the intervening months between Respondent's attempted murder charge, his subsequent acquittal, and the October 28, 2021 hearing, Respondent had been indicted with other charges, including: pointing and presenting firearms (21-GS-24-02030); giving false information to law enforcement (2020A2420300197); obstructing justice (21-GS-24-02256); unlawful neglect of a child (21-GS-24-02126); and domestic violence in the second degree (21-GS-24-02125). He pleaded guilty on December 14, 2021 to a negotiated plea of five years on the unlawful neglect and domestic violence charges, with the other two charges dismissed. Mr. Shaffer represented Respondent during this plea before Judge Addy.

On December 31, 2021, Judge Addy issued an “Order Concerning Probation Violation,” remanding Indictment 2012-GS-24-1325 (attempted murder) for a new sentencing. (R.p.26-p.35). Appellant renewed its previously served and filed notice of appeal on January 11, 2022.

Rather than addressing the Appellant’s appeal on its merits, the Court of Appeals issued a ruling on September 20, 2023, determining that Judge Addy’s order vacating the sentence and requiring a new sentencing was not final “until after Reid has been sentenced” and that no subsection of S.C. Code §14-3-330 was applicable. Appellant filed its petition for rehearing, which was denied by the Court of Appeals in an order dated November 20, 2023. Appellant then submitted a petition for a writ of certiorari on December 12, 2023. This Court granted the petition on January 15, 2025.

Appellant’s brief follows.

### **Standard of Review**

An appellate court will not disturb the Circuit Court's decision to revoke probation unless the decision was influenced by an error of law, was without evidentiary support, or constituted an abuse of discretion. State v. Archie, 322 S.C. 135, 470 S.E.2d 380 (Ct.App.1996); *see also* State v. White, 218 S.C. 130, 135, 61 S.E.2d 754 (1950) (stating that upon review of revocation of probation, question is not one of formal procedure respecting either notice, specifications of charges or trial thereon, but is simply whether trial court abused its discretion; review therefore must be determined in accordance with principles governing exercise of judicial discretion). The decision to revoke probation is addressed to the discretion of the circuit judge. White, 218 S.C. at 134–35, 61 S.E.2d at 756; State v. Proctor, 345 S.C. 299, 546 S.E.2d 673 (Ct.App.2001); State v. Hamilton, 333 S.C. 642, 511 S.E.2d 94 (Ct.App.1999). A reviewing court will only reverse this

determination when it is based on an error of law or a lack of supporting evidence renders it arbitrary or capricious. Proctor, 345 S.C. at 301, 546 S.E.2d at 674. The court has much discretionary authority in dealing with guilty persons who are in a probationary status. Shannon v. Young, 272 S.C. 61, 248 S.E.2d 914 (1978).

### Arguments

1. **The Court of Appeals erred when it determined that the probation court's order vacating the sentence and remanding the matter for a new sentencing was not a final order and therefore reviewable under S.C. Code Section 14-3-330.**

Appellant respectfully submits that this matter squarely falls within the requirements of section 14-3-330. In remanding the matter for resentencing, the probation violation court not only overstepped its statutory authority in issuing its order vacating the sentence and ordering a new sentencing, but the order is final in all practical considerations, thus falling within subsection (2)(a) of section 14-3-330. The probation violation court's remand for resentencing clearly "determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken," as contemplated by the statute.

It is hard to fathom how an order vacating a sentence imposed ten years prior and ordering a new sentencing is not final given the circumstances surrounding the negotiated plea. A resentencing, presumably following the statutory prohibition on suspending and granting probation for attempted murder convictions, necessarily would require a modification to the original plea agreement. Petitioner submits that, because resentencing cannot be accomplished under the original terms of the negotiated plea, the order is essentially a remand for a new trial. The court's order effectively contemplated that, when it stated, "At the resentencing, Mr. Reid

may move to withdraw his plea if he so desires. Should he elect to withdraw his plea and the Court permits him to do so, the State and Mr. Reid are free to renew their negotiations or take the matter to trial.” (R.p. 34-35).

A resentencing puts the State in the worst possible position: the current plea arrangement of ten years’ imprisonment has already been served on the first-degree assault, and the remainder of the agreement, twenty years’ imprisonment suspended to probation, is prohibited by statute. The terms of the negotiation would necessitate the withdrawal or vacation of the plea to the attempted murder and although a new plea to a lesser included offense such as assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature could be tendered, nothing forces Respondent to accept such a plea. The State would then be required to bring a more than ten-year-old case to trial after it had already negotiated a resolution in 2014. Regardless of how the resentencing order is resolved, it stretches the imagination to envision a scenario in which the result would not be rendered moot or where the probation court’s improper order would otherwise be eligible for proper review.

Considering this reality, Appellant submits that the order for “resentencing” is, for all practical purposes, an order for a new trial and thus meeting the requirements of section 14-3-330(2)(b). As stated earlier, the probation violation court’s order vacating the sentence and ordering a resentencing cannot be accomplished because of the negotiated nature of the sentence and the statutory prohibition of the probationary sentence all sides had agreed to. Consequently, the very real likelihood of a withdrawal of the attempted murder plea will be followed by a refusal to plea to any other sentence – forcing the State to call the case to trial. Regardless of the result of such a trial, the order vacating the original sentence will never have an opportunity to be reviewed by an appellate court.

A third alternative would be to consider section 14-3-330(3) as applicable to the situation. A probation violation hearing is a proceeding that follows a judgment – that being conviction and sentencing. A ruling not objected to becomes the law of the case. *State v. Lee*, 350 S.C. 125, 132-33, 564 S.E.2d 372, 376 (Ct.App. 2002). It is uncontroverted that neither side appealed the plea, conviction, and sentencing, so the judgment of the matter stands. The probation violation court's remand clearly affects substantial rights in this case – that being the State's interest in the finality of a plea bargain and sentencing and its expectations that Respondent be held to the terms of its contractual agreement in the negotiated sentence. It cannot be understated how devastating such a ruling by the probation violation court will be; the finality of all future probationary sentences will no longer be certain if a circuit judge hearing an alleged violation can simply remand the matter for a new sentencing without that order being subject to appellate review. If a judge presiding over a probation violation hearing dislikes the amount of time he or she can revoke based on the original sentence, that judge cannot vacate the sentence and order a new sentencing in the hopes that a greater suspended sentence would be ordered. Were a judge to take such a prohibited action, Petitioner anticipates the appellate courts would rightly leap to overturn that order and ensure no other circuit judge does the same.

The present scenario, while ostensibly operating in the favor of the Respondent, should require the same response. Just as defendants have the right to expect the State to uphold its bargains, the State has an equal interest in ensuring defendants are held to their end. Respondent should not be allowed to negotiate a beneficial sentence from which neither side appealed making it final, and then undo that finality by having the sentence vacated when he clearly violated the terms of his supervision.

2. **A circuit court judge may not vacate a sentencing order issued by another circuit judge when there was no appeal taken from the original sentence, therefore the probation court erred by vacating the sentence and ordering a new sentencing hearing.**

The law of South Carolina is well-settled that one circuit court judge may not reverse an order of another circuit court judge. Cook v. Taylor, 272 S.C. 536, 538, 252 S.E.2d 923, 924 (1979). While Appellant appreciates Judge Addy's thoughtful and thorough discourse on the matter that was before him, it respectfully submits that the court overstepped its authority by vacating Respondent's sentence. Furthermore, Appellant appreciates the situation before the revocation court in that the original offense was contrary to statute. However, Appellant submits that the evidence presented to the court did not show a deliberate attempt to achieve an illegal sentence.

Respondent entered into a negotiated plea where he derived a significant benefit. He agreed to a suspended sentence and a term of probation in lieu of an active sentence on the indictment at issue. Judge Early accepted the negotiated plea and sentenced him according to the negotiations. Although the sentencing court lacked the authority to suspend the sentence for attempted murder and to place Respondent on probation for that offense, at no point did either the State or Respondent appeal or object to the sentence. Only after Respondent was facing a revocation did he raise the issue, and only then to escape the potential ramifications of his further bad actions.

South Carolina law states that a ruling that is not objected to becomes the law of the case. See, State v. Lee, 350 S.C. 125, 132-33, 564 S.E.2d 372, 376 (Ct.App. 2002), citing State v. Sampson, 317 S.C. 423, 545 S.E.2d 721 (1995). Quite simply, because the judge suspended the sentence and placed Respondent on probation and neither side objected, Respondent was subject to the rules and requirements of – and consequences for violating – probation.

SCDPPPS's duties are to execute the sentence by supervising Respondent and enforcing the conditions of probation. Its duties also involve bringing allegations of violations of the conditions to a circuit court judge, who has the authority to revoke all or part of the suspended sentence. "[R]evocation is the means to enforce the conditions of probation." Hamilton, 333 S.C. at 648, 511 S.E.2d at 97. See also: S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-410 (2010), S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-450 (1991), and S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-460 (1976).

Consequently, Appellant submits that the trial court was fully within its authority to proceed with the violation hearing, consider the facts presented and exercise its discretion in determining the appropriate response – which includes a revocation up to the full suspended sentence. An appellate court "will not disturb the Circuit Court's decision to revoke probation unless the decision was influenced by an error of law, was without evidentiary support, or constituted an abuse of discretion." Lee at 129, 564 S.E.2d at 374, citing State v. Archie, 322 S.C. 135, 470 S.E.2d 380 (Ct.App. 1996).

In his objection to the probation revocation hearing, Respondent cites to dicta within Lee that suggests the matter of an illegal sentence may be raised at a probation violation hearing. "[T]he statutory authority of the sentencing court to issue the underlying sentence could have been challenged in a motion to reconsider the sentence, on direct appeal, or as a defense to the probation revocation proceedings." Id. at 132-133, 564 S.E.2d at 376.

Appellant submits that this current dilemma suggests that the court in Lee did not foresee how problematic such an objection can be. As the trial court acknowledged, SCDPPPS is not in a position to consider the validity of a probationary sentence. Its duties are to enforce the conditions

of probation pursuant to its statutory authority. Therefore, a violation of probation hearing should not be considered an appropriate time to submit an objection to the legality of the sentence.<sup>1</sup>

The trial court also considered Justice (then Appellate Court Judge) Few's dissent in State v. Blakney, 410 S.C. 244, 254, 763 S.E.2d 622, 628 (2014). In Blakney, the sentencing judge suspended part of the mandatory fifteen-year minimum sentence for first degree burglary. The underlying issue in that case involved the duration of community supervision, though Justice Few's dissent is instructive here. "I would hold the State may not argue to a sentencing court that the court has the power to suspend a sentence, and after the court accepts the State's argument and suspends the sentence, turn around and argue, as it has done in this appeal, the sentence may not be suspended."

In light of Justice Few's objection, Appellant submits Respondent has done something similar – argue to the sentencing court that he should receive probation, and then when faced with a violation of that probation, argue that he never should have been on probation in the first place.

Furthermore, Justice Few's dissent notes that the State was not aggrieved by the error; Blakney was. Id. at 258, 763 S.E.2d at 630. Yet in this matter, the roles are reversed – Appellant is now trying to enforce a sentence that Respondent claims cannot be enforced, leaving the State's end of the bargain empty.

Testimony by Solicitor Stumbo indicates the original plea negotiations between the defense and prosecution failed to recall the statutory prohibition of probation for attempted murder. As the trial court points out, the sentence could very easily have been accomplished with a plea to assault

---

<sup>1</sup> A possible exception to this would be to address a sentence truly detrimental to the defendant. For example, a suspension of ten years to probation for the crime of third degree burglary is not permitted because third degree burglary carries a maximum of five years. That improper sentence could be raised at a violation hearing so that the judge only considers a revocation of five years or less.

and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) – it carries up to twenty years, adds a strike, and can be suspended to probation. Therefore, the oversight does not appear to be through the operation of bad faith by the State. The plea negotiations resulted in both sides getting what they wanted – at least until Respondent failed to comply with the terms of probation and was about to face the consequences.

The reality that a simple change to the offense to which Respondent pled would have solved the issue also addresses another of the trial court's misgivings – that of the enforceability of the negotiated plea bargain. While the trial court correctly acknowledges that a court is without power to enforce an illegal contract, the negotiated plea does not reflect an impossibility or an unthinkable sentence under the totality of the circumstances. While extreme examples such as ordering the death penalty for shoplifting were raised by the trial court,<sup>2</sup> nothing so extreme actually took place. The Respondent did not agree to an unconscionable sentence far exceeding his crime; he instead received a far *lessened* sentence than contemplated by statute.<sup>3</sup> Furthermore, it is a bargain that could have been accomplished by reducing the offense to that of ABHAN.

Appellant is keenly aware of the broad authority already given to the circuit court when hearing probation violations. Appellant acknowledges that the court could have declined to revoke Respondent, continued him on probation, or even terminated his supervision. S.C. Code § 24-21-460. It was only when the circuit court elected to vacate the original sentence and order a new sentencing that it overstepped its bounds. For that reason, Appellant respectfully requests this

---

<sup>2</sup> R.p. 17, l. 23 – p. 18, l. 4.

<sup>3</sup> A far more apt analogy would be the enforceability of a judge imposing a sentence of three years for armed robbery instead of the mandatory minimum of ten years if the sentence was not appealed by either side.

Court to overturn its order and remand the case for a new probation violation hearing, wherein the circuit court is free to exercise its broad, but not unlimited, authority.<sup>4</sup>

### Conclusion

While Appellant understands the dilemma before the trial court, South Carolina law is clear that one circuit court judge cannot set aside another circuit judge's order or sentence.