STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED
Mar 21 2025
S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Greenwood County

Honorable Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

APPELLANT,

V.

JOEY CORVELL REID,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001910

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Deputy Chief Attorney for Capital Appeals

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 27, 2014, respondent Joey Reid pled guilty before the Honorable Doyet Early pursuant to a negotiated plea to one count of first-degree assault and battery and one count of attempted murder. Accepting the plea and following the negotiation for sentencing, Judge Early sentenced Reid to ten years' imprisonment on the assault charge and a consecutive twenty years' imprisonment suspended to five years' probation for attempted murder. No appeal was taken.

Reid began serving his probationary sentence and the State issued warrants seeking to revoke his probation. On October 28, 2021, a hearing on the probation warrants was held before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. R. 1. David Stumbo represented the State and Tristan Shaffer represented Reid. R. 1. On December 31, 2021, Judge Addy issued a written order refusing to revoke Reid's probation, vacating Reid's attempted murder sentence, and granting Reid leave to move to withdraw his guilty plea to attempted murder. R. 26. DPPPS' appeal to the Court of Appeals was dismissed and this Court granted the Department's petition for certiorari.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Respondent agrees with the Department that judges hearing probation violations have broad discretion, but because the issue involved in this appeal is purely a question of law, it should be renewed de novo. State v. Frasier, 437 S.C. 625, 633-34, 879 S.E.2d 762, 766 (2022).

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals reached the right result in dismissing the State's appeal because the undisputedly illegal sentence is a problem of the State's own making.

The Department asks this Court to make Judge Addy enforce an illegal sentence. The Department admits the sentence is illegal. Faced with conflicting legal doctrines in a very unusual case, Judge Addy reached the right result that is fair to the State and to Respondent: vacating the sentence and allowing Respondent the opportunity to move to withdraw his plea. Judge Addy's result puts the parties back in their original position.

The Department wants this Court to think that Respondent would receive a windfall if Judge Addy's Order is allowed to stand. The Department argues that Respondent received "a beneficial sentence" and that the State would be greatly prejudiced if forced to try Respondent after the passage of time. Br. App. at 5-6. But this prejudice cuts both ways. First, Respondent's illegal sentence for attempted murder was set to run consecutive to a ten year sentence for first-degree assault and battery. Had the State not negotiated an illegally suspended sentence, Respondent may have been able to serve his time concurrently. He has done all of his time on the assault conviction. Second, the State's complaint about having to try a stale case ignores that Respondent would be forced to defend a stale case. Every time this Court reverses a criminal conviction on direct appeal or on PCR the parties face the problem of stale evidence. Finally, Respondent faces a thirty-year maximum sentence on retrial instead of the twenty-year sentence he negotiated or even the ten-year revocation the Department sought at the hearing. The risk of affirming does not fall solely on the shoulders of the State as the Department wants this Court to believe. No windfall exists here for either side.

Procedural Background and the Illegal Sentence

No dispute exists that the sentence given to respondent Joey Reid (“Reid”) for attempted murder is illegal. The State admits the sentence is illegal. Br. App. at 7. Respondent agrees the sentence is illegal. No other conclusion can be drawn from the plain language of the statute.

In 2014, before the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, respondent Reid pled guilty under a negotiated plea to first-degree assault and battery and to attempted murder. R. 52-53. R. 11, l. 4 – 17. Judge Early sentenced Reid to ten years’ imprisonment for the assault and battery conviction. R. 52-53. R. 11, l. 4 – 12, l. 24. Judge Early also sentenced Reid to a **consecutive** twenty years’ imprisonment for attempted murder, suspended to five years’ probation. R. 52-53. R. 11, l. 4 – 12, l. 24.

Reid’s attempted murder sentence is illegal because it cannot be suspended and probation cannot be imposed. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29. The attempted murder statute provides:

A person who, with intent to kill, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder. A person who violates this section is guilty of a felony, and, upon conviction, must be imprisoned for not more than thirty years. A sentence imposed pursuant to this section may not be suspended nor may probation be granted.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (emphasis added). The plain language of the statute makes Reid’s sentence illegal.

Reid served his active sentence for assault and battery and began serving his probation. When the probation department brought Reid before Judge Addy on a probation violation warrant, the parties agreed that the sentence was illegal. R. 5, l. 1 – 21. R. 13, l. 5 – 15, l. 21. Reid argued that the probation warrant should be dismissed because the sentence was illegal. R. 7, l. 4 – 7. The probation department argued that because no one appealed the sentence, the

department was required to enforce the sentence as given and sought a ten-year revocation. R. 13, l. 5 – 15, l. 21. R. 27, n. 6.

The trial judge first refused to revoke Reid’s probation because of the illegal sentence. R. 33. Judge Addy then crafted a result not sought by either party. R. 34, n.18. The judge vacated Reid’s sentence and ordered resentencing. R. 34. Judge Addy granted Reid leave to move to withdraw his plea to attempted murder at the resentencing. R. 34-35.

The State’s Appeal and the Court of Appeals’ Decision

The State sought review of Judge Addy’s Order at the Court of Appeals. The State argued that Judge Addy had no authority to vacate Reid’s sentence because it “is well-settled that one circuit judge may not reverse an order of another circuit judge.” Br. App. at 4. Judge Addy recognized this principle and stated he was “not attempting to overrule another judge.” R. 34, n. 18. The State also argued that the illegal sentence was the “law of the case.”

The Court of Appeals issued an unpublished per curiam Opinion dismissing the State’s appeal. The Opinion described the procedural posture and determined Judge Addy’s Order was not immediately appealable. The unpublished and un-citable Opinion did not address the merits of the State’s arguments and obviously creates no precedent. See Rule 268(d)(2), SCACR (“Memorandum opinions and unpublished orders have no precedential value. . . .”); Rule 220(a), SCACR (“ . . . memorandum opinions shall not be published in the official reports and shall be of no precedential value.”).

The court cited Ex Parte Wilson, 367 S.C. 7, 625 S.E.2d 205 (2005) and section 14-3-330 of the South Carolina Code as authority for finding the circuit court’s order not immediately appealable. The court held, “Because the order is not final until after Reid has been resentenced

and no subsection of section 14-3-330 . . . is applicable, we dismiss the order as not immediately appealable.” State v. Reid, No. 2023-UP-311 (S.C. Ct. App. Sept. 20, 2023).

The Court of Appeals Reached the Right Result

No new sentence has been imposed. Criminal defendants generally may not appeal until sentence is imposed. See State v. Rearick, 417 S.C. 391, 400-01, 790 S.E.2d 192, 196-97 (2016). Rearick dismissed as interlocutory a defendant’s appeal from an order refusing to apply the Double Jeopardy Clause. This Court also refused to hear a criminal defendant’s appeal from an order denying immunity until after sentencing. State v. Isaac, 405 S.C. 177, 747 S.E.2d 677 (2013). Reid likely would not be able to appeal Judge Addy’s Order under these precedents and it would be inequitable to allow the State an appeal that a defendant could not also take. The parties may reach an agreement on resentencing. They may reach an agreement if the court allows Reid to withdraw his plea. The Court of Appeals rightly sent this case back to the circuit court for further proceedings.

Furthermore, Judge Addy’s Order also reached the right result—a “do over.” The judge was rightly concerned that instead of being asked to overrule another circuit judge, he was being asked to enforce an illegal sentence. Faced with this dilemma, Judge Addy made the right decision. The court correctly started from the fact that Reid’s sentence came from a negotiated plea. Plea bargaining and negotiated sentences are interpreted using principles from contract law. See Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 511 S.E.2d 396 (Ct. App. 1999). In State v. Thrift, the Court cited with approval a Fourth Circuit case holding that while contract law applies, “a plea agreement analysis must be more stringent than a contract because the rights involved are fundamental and constitutionally based.” 312 S.C. 282, 293, 440 S.E.2d 341, 347 (1994) citing United States v. Ringling, 988 F.2d 504 (4th Cir. 1993).

The trial court then correctly stated it lacked the power to enforce an illegal contract. See Hinnant v. Southern Ry. Co., 113 S.C. 19, 100 S.E. 709 (1919). In Hinnant, the plaintiff hitched a ride on a train and then sued for injuries sustained when it crashed. Id. State and federal statutes prohibited the plaintiff's presence on the train. Id. The plaintiff claimed he was legally on the train pursuant to a contract with the conductor and engineer. Id. The Court held, "Neither the conductor, the engineer, nor the defendant itself can make a contract in violation of law, or waive the requirements of the law." Id. If parties can be placed back in their original positions, then rescission is an available remedy in a breach of contract action. See Brazell v. Windsor, 384 S.C. 512, 518-19, 682 S.E.2d 824, 827-28 (2009) (reversing dismissal of rescission remedy because parties could be returned to the status quo ante).

Similar to the conductor and the plaintiff in Hinnant, the contract between Reid and the solicitor violated the law. Judge Addy correctly concluded that such a contract was void and refused to enforce it. Refusing to enforce an illegal contract does not contravene the general rule that one circuit judge may not overrule another circuit judge. Judge Addy correctly refused to violate Reid's probation. Reid properly raised the illegality of the sentence as a defense to the probation violation warrant. See State v. Lee, 350 S.C. 125, 132-33, 564 S.E.2d 372, 376 (Ct. App. 2002) ("the statutory authority of the sentencing court to issue the underlying sentence could have been challenged in a motion to reconsider the sentence, on direct appeal, or as a defense to the probation revocation proceedings.")

Judge Addy also correctly vacated the sentence and granted Reid leave to withdraw his plea. The court could not simply continue Reid on probation. The illegality of the sentence meant it would be impossible for Reid to suffer consequences of any violation. Continuation would deprive the State of the benefit of its bargain. The trial judge's ruling does not violate the doctrine of "law of the case" and was, as the trial judge recognized, the only way out of this dilemma. Judge Addy could not violate Reid without enforcing an illegal sentence. And as stated above, Lee allows a probationer to challenge the legality of the sentence as a defense to revocation.

Furthermore, the "law of the case" doctrine does not apply because Reid's challenge to the sentence under Lee is the first appeal of this issue. "Under the law-of-the-case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were either not raised on appeal, but should have been, or raised on appeal, but expressly rejected by the appellate court." Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc., 413 S.C. 561, 571, 776 S.E.2d 397, 403 (Ct. App. 2015). What the Department is calling "law of the case" is actually a waiver or estoppel theory. Respondent did not waive his right to challenge the illegal sentence—Lee allows his challenge. If the Department's theory—no matter its doctrinal name—is correct, and Reid waived his right to challenge the sentence, so did the State.

The thorny question Judge Addy grappled with was what would be the remedy if both sides waived their right to challenge the sentence. Below, Reid asked for dismissal of the probation violation, but Judge Addy recognized the inequity of this result because it deprives the State the benefit of its bargain. R. 7, l. 4 – 7. Granting the Department its requested remedy and sending Reid to prison for ten more years means enforcing an illegal sentence. Like Ouroboros

eating its tail, the legal arguments run in circles with no satisfying conclusion. The judge could only reach a fair result by undoing the illegal negotiated sentence.

Placing the parties back in the position before the illegal contract was made comports with the duties of solicitors and the logic of the Rule of Lenity. “Prosecutors are ministers of justice and not merely advocates.” State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 449, 527 S.E.2d 105, 109 (2000). South Carolina places “unfettered discretion” to prosecute in the hands of solicitors. Thrift at 291-92, 440 S.E.2d at 346-47. While this case involves a mistake by the solicitor (and defense counsel and the plea court) and not the egregious conduct condemned in Quattlebaum, holding the State to a higher standard with respect to sentencing errors complies with the duties that run with their vast power.

The State should bear the minimal costs of the mistake in this plea bargain, not Reid. The trial judge cited the legal maxim that when parties are of equal fault, the defendant’s position is the stronger (In pari delicto potior est conditio defendentis). R. 34. Another rule that could have been applied is the Rule of Lenity. See State v. Miles, 421 S.C. 154, 805 S.E.2d 204 (Ct. App. 2017). The Rule of Lenity is a canon of statutory construction and holds that any doubt about a statute’s scope should be interpreted in the defendant’s favor. Id. While this rule does not technically apply because the court interpreted an illegal sentencing contract instead of a statute, the logic of the rule applies here.

Furthermore, the State should be viewed as the drafter of the contract, and terms of a contract are strictly enforced against the drafter. Maybank v. BB&T Corp., 416 S.C. 541, 574, 787 S.E.2d 498, 515 (2016). While Reid is not seeking enforcement of the terms of the illegal contract, this maxim together with the logic of the Rule of Lenity shows that the State was in the

best position to avoid requesting an illegal sentence and cannot now complain when the trial judge undoes the agreement.